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______________________________________________________________________________ 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

MATTHEW THOMAS PARISH, ESQ. 

        _____ CV _________________ 
  - against - 

AHMED AL-FAHAD AL-AHMED AL-JABER AL-SABAH 
         COMPLAINT 
HAMAD AL-HAROUN 
         JURY TRIAL REQUESTED 

I. BASIS FOR JURISDICTION: 

 FEDERAL QUESTION: 

 CLAIM UNDER RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND  
 CORRUPT ORGANZATIONS ACT § 1691 et seq. 

II. PARTIES 

A. Plaintiff Information 

 Matthew  T.   Parish 
 ____________________________________________________________ 
 First Name Middle Initial Surname 

 40 West End Avenue 
 _____________________________________________  
 Street Address 

 North Yorkshire, Harrogate  N/A HG2 9BY 
 ____________________________________________________________ 
 County, City    State Zip Code 

 011 44 1423 566 084   parishmatthew@hotmail.com 
 __________________________  ____________________ 
 Telephone Number   Email address 
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B. Defendant Information 

Defendant 1: Ahmed Al-Fahah Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah 
  _______________________________________ 
  First Name          Last Name 

  President, Olympic Council of Asia 

  _______________________________________ 
  Current Job Title (or other identifying information) 

  PO Box 6706  
  ____________________________________________________ 
  Current work address (or other address where the Defendant may be served) 

  Hawaii Kuwait  32042 
  _______________________________________ 
  County, City State   Zip Code 

Defendant 2: Hamad        Al-Haroun 
  _______________________________________ 
  First Name          Last Name 

  None 

  _______________________________________ 
  Current Job Title (or other identifying information) 

  40B Chagford Street 
  ____________________________________________________ 
  Current work address (or other address where the Defendant may be served) 

  London England  NW1 6EB 
  _______________________________________ 
  County, City State   Zip Code 

Page �  of �3 12



III. STATEMENT OF CLAIM 

Places of Occurrence: Mainland United States; Kuwait; United Kingdom; Qatar; 
Switzerland; other places unknown 

Dates of Occurrence: 1 July 1981 to the present day 

FACTS: 

1. At all material times the Second Defendant was the agent of the First Defendant. 

2. The First Defendant is a prominent member of the Kuwaiti Royal Family and is 
considered by most or many people with knowledge of the matter to be the principal financier 
in the world of international sports. 

3. The way that the First Defendant typically rises to the top of international sporting 
organisations is and/or has been to approach individual government ministers and/or civil 
servants in member state countries of international sporting bodies, in which said bodies the 
predominant system of election of officials and other relevant decision-making is one-member 
one-vote, and to offer incentives of a financial or similar kind to said ministers and/or civil 
servants in exchange for their votes in making decisions relevant to said international sporting 
organizations. To give one example purely by illustration (amongst many), the First Defendant  
may offer scholarships for the children of ministers and/or civil servants of member states of 
international sporting organizations to educational institutions in the United States and/or 
elsewhere upon the assumption that the member state will exercise its voting rights in favor of 
decisions advocated by the First Defendant. 

4. The Second Defendant, as the First Defendant’s agent, has taken actions to aid abet 
counsel or procure said behavior on the part of the First Defendant and with his knowledge. 

5. Said behavior is profoundly unlawful; notwithstanding, the First Defendant and the 
Second Defendant have engaged in said behavior upon innumerable occasions. 

6. As part of the aforementioned scheme of multiple unlawful acts of behavior, and/or 
otherwise, the First Defendant and the Second Defendant (acting upon behalf of the First 
Defendant with the First Defendant’s full acquiescence and/or knowledge and/or consent), 
and/or otherwise, has forged multiple documents and/or videos and/or other materials of a 
substantial factual and/or legal nature, that is to say he has (with said quiescence of the First 
Defendant) manufactured financial and/or other legal documents that are not genuine; and/or 
has manufactured videos purportedly showing one or more Kuwaiti political opponents of the 
First Defendant and the Second Defendant undertaking seemingly unlawful and/or unethical 
and/or obscene actions when in fact the videos in question were fictitious in the sense that they 
involved the cutting and/or splicing of other videos with fictitious and/or fraudulent materials. 

7. The Second Defendant (again with the aforementioned quiescence of the First 
Defendant) undertook said acts of forgery of legal and/or financial documents and/or videos 

Page �  of �4 12



meeting the aforementioned descriptions upon multiple occasions, that is to say at least more 
than once. 

INJURIES: 

8. As a result of the aforementioned unlawful actions, the Plaintiff, a New York attorney 
and an English solicitor and and English barrister retained by the Second Defendant on 
behalf of the First Defendant, suffered substantial losses, including but not limited to the 
following. 

9. The Plaintiff was the subject of an unjust prosecution in the Republic and Canton of 
Geneva, a sub-federal unit of Switzerland, pursued for the offense of forgery by a Geneva 
Prosecutor. 

10. In fact what had happened was that the Second Defendant (with the knowledge and 
quiescence of the First Defendant as herein above stated) had engaged the Plaintiff on behalf 
of the First Defendant to verify through a legal procedure the validity of certain videos 
provided by the Second Defendant to the Plaintiff on behalf of the First Defendant (again with 
the First Defendant’s full knowledge and quiescence) that apparently showed a Kuwaiti 
political opponent of the First Defendant (“Sheikh Nasser”), having conversations with other 
persons the contents and purposes of which were unclear; whereas at substantially the same 
time the First Defendant and the Second Defendant were circulating within Kuwait, using 
social media and/or other media, entirely different and forged / fictitious videos of Sheikh 
Nasser apparently engaged in activities that would be treated as immoral and/or unlawful 
and/or improper by the standards of the region. 

11. As a result thereof, inter alia, as a consequence of the most extensive and/or expensive 
legal proceedings in the history of Geneva, the Plaintiff incurred substantial losses, including 
but not limited to legal expenses; two periods of incarceration (both entirely unjust) at the 
hands of the Geneva Prosecutor Mr Grodecki (one of which was 22 days and the second of 
which was some five and a half months); the total collapse of the Geneva and international 
law firm Gentium Law Group of which the Plaintiff was the Managing Director and sole 
owner; his separation from his long-term partner of some seven years; two suicide attempts; 
an extended period of nervous breakdown; his eviction from his luxury apartment in central 
Geneva where he lived with his partner (from he subsequently separated); and colossal debts 
by reason of the destruction of his business and the damage to his psychiatric health. 

12. Further the Plaintiff, as a victim of the aforementioned misconduct, suffered 
substantial losses which losses deserve to be compensated in damages including but not 
limited to compensatory, exemplary, punitive, aggravated, general, special, liquidated, 
unliquidated, consequential damages and/or incidental damages. 

13. The pattern of racketeering activities or collection of unlawful debts alleged is the 
deceitful use of legal work undertaken by the plaintiff in respect of a set of six videos which 
the defendants used as a pretence that over 200 videos were genuine and/or undoctored to the 
general public in Kuwait and/or to various members of the political classes in Kuwait, when in 
fact that larger set of videos was doctored and/or forged and/or manipulated so as to show 
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that at least two persons, including Sheikh Nasser Al-Mohammed Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-Sabah 
(another member of the Kuwaiti Royal Family) (“Sheikh Nasser”) and Mr Jassem Al-Kharafi 
(a now deceased assistant to the aforementioned Sheikh Nasser) appeared in these videos to be 
engaged in transactions and/or plots and/or schemes and/or projects unlawful under Kuwaiti 
law, including but not limited to a plot to overthrow the then Emir in a coup d’état; when in 
fact those individuals were not actually planning any such thing and the videos so circulated 
appearing to indicate that they were were fakes and/or forgeries. 

14. The predicate acts involved in said unlawful behavior included but were not limited to 
the distribution as true and honest videos materials that in fact were not true and honest; and/
or collaboration with third persons identities unknown to manufacture videos with such 
qualities, contrary inter alia to 18 U.S.C. § 1001. 

15. The dates of the participant acts, to be best of the plaintiff’s knowledge, were a variety 
of dates in 2013 and 2013; the facts surrounding the the participant acts were the defendants’ 
distribution using social media and/or other means of the aforementioned fake videos (“fake” 
for these purposes meaning misleading, forged, manufactured and/or otherwise dishonestly 
propagated). 

16. The predicate acts are at least in some part based upon a criminal conviction, that is to 
say a conviction of both the defendants before the Tribunal Correctionnel, a criminal court in 
Geneva, Switzerland, whose judgment of conviction of the two defendants is dated September 
10, 2021; the case number in Geneva is P/12553/15. 

17.  Civil litigation has resulted in an exoneration of the plaintiff and other parties from 
intentional or negligent wrongdoing in this affair; that litigation took place in England, before 
the High Court of Justice, Queens Bench Division, the learned Judge being Senior Master 
Fontaine, case number QB-2020-003669, judgment dated June 15, 2021 and not having been 
subject to successful appeal. 

18. The predicate acts form a “pattern of racketeering activity” in that there were multiple 
efforts by the defendants to distribute amongst the Kuwaiti public materials that the 
defendants knew to be fraudulent contrary to 18 U.S.C. § 1001; and these attempts were for 
the most part similar in that they involved distribution of said videos by different means of 
social media and/or other internet means of distribution. 

19. The alleged predicate acts relate to one-another as part of a common plan to discredit a 
legitimate heir to the Kuwait throne through false imputation of wrongdoing to him, as well as 
pursuing the same objective as regards his principal assistant the late Mr Jassem Al-Kharafi. 

20. The enterprise for the RICO claim herein pursued consists of the two defendants. 

21. The structure of the enterprise was that Defendant 1, a leading member of the Kuwaiti 
Royal Family, was the principal architect of the RICO scheme; while Defendant 2, his 
principal assistant, provided necessary assistance and support as Defendant 1 required. The 
purpose of the enterprise was to undermine the political position of the aforementioned 
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Sheikh Nasser and Mr Jassem Al-Kharafi. The function and course of conduct was the 
distribution of knowingly fake videos. 

22. Defendant 2 is for all intents and purposes an employee and/or agent of Defendant 1. 

23. The defendants operated in person rather than through a corporate or other legal 
entity or enterprise; they themselves together comprised the RICO enterprise. The defendants 
are the individuals themselves. 

24. Both Defendant 1 and Defendant 2 were active perpetrators in the alleged racketeering 
activity. They both knowingly distributed the fake and/or forged and/or doctored materials, 
both with an intention of causing unlawful overthrow of the lawful Kuwaiti government. 

25. The pattern of racketeering activity was coordinated between Defendant 1 and 
Defendant 2 who had common aims goals and objectives in their knowing distribution of false 
materials. 

26. The racketeering activity differs from the usual daily activities of Defendant 1 and 
Defendant 2 in that it was a conscious attempt by Defendant 1 and Defendant 2 to use 
unlawful means to overthrow the lawful government of the internationally recognized State of 
Kuwait. 

27. The benefits Defendant 1 and Defendant 2 anticipated receiving from the pattern of 
racketeering was to overthrow the lawful government of the State of Kuwait and to replace it 
with themselves. 

28. The effect of the activities of the racketeering enterprise on foreign commerce are such 
as potentially to subject the friendly State of Kuwait to international sanctions; to increase the 
price of oil through propagation of instability in Middle Eastern politics; and more generally 
to propagate political instability in the State of Kuwait and in the region (Kuwait is a primary 
mediator between different powers in the region, the undermining of whose government 
would be expected to erode its capacity for such mediation) hence rendering all foreign 
commerce involving Kuwait and in particular its oil supplies to uncertainty, volatility and 
potential consequent damage to the U.S. economy. 

29. The federal cause of action alleged is that pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1001, namely that is 
to say: 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this section, whoever, in any matter within the 
jurisdiction of the executive, legislative, or judicial branch of the Government of the 
United States, knowingly and willfully— 
(1) falsifies, conceals, or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a material fact; 
(2) makes any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation; or 
(3) makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the same to contain any 
materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry; 
shall be fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 5 years or, if the offense involves 
international or domestic terrorism (as defined in section 2331), imprisoned not more 
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than 8 years, or both. If the matter relates to an offense under chapter 109A, 109B, 110, 
or 117, or section 1591, then the term of imprisonment imposed under this section shall be 
not more than 8 years. 
(b) Subsection (a) does not apply to a party to a judicial proceeding, or that party’s 
counsel, for statements, representations, writings or documents submitted by such party or 
counsel to a judge or magistrate in that proceeding. 
(c) With respect to any matter within the jurisdiction of the legislative branch, subsection 
(a) shall apply only to— 
(1) administrative matters, including a claim for payment, a matter related to the 
procurement of property or services, personnel or employment practices, or support 
services, or a document required by law, rule, or regulation to be submitted to the 
Congress or any office or officer within the legislative branch; or 
(2) any investigation or review, conducted pursuant to the authority of any committee, 
subcommittee, commission or office of the Congress, consistent with applicable rules of 
the House or Senate. 

30. There are no pendent state claims to the plaintiff’s knowledge. 

31. The plaintiff believes that he has provided all information potentially helpful to the 
Court in adjudicating this RICO claim; but in the event that the Court requires further 
information to assist in said adjudication, the plaintiff stands ready promptly to assist the 
Court. 
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IV. RELIEF 

The Plaintiff seeks, against both the First Defendant and the Second Defendant on a joint and 
several liability basis, the following: 

- Compensatory damages, subject to such multiplier as the Court may decide pursuant 
to statute or otherwise to be applicable. 

- Punitive and/or exemplary damages. 

- Declaratory relief, in such terms as the Court may consider appropriate. 

- Interest upon said damages, at such rate and for such period as the Court may 
determine is appopriate pursuant to statute or otherwise. 

- Legal costs, to the extent that the Court considers that it has jurisdiction so to order, 
and in such quantum as the Court may consider appropriate. 
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V.  PLAINTIFF’S CERTIFICATION AND WARNINGS 

By signing below, I certify to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief that: (1) the 
complaint is not being presented for an improper purpose (such as to harass, cause 
unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of litigation); (2) the claims are supported 
by existing law or by a nonfrivolous argument to change existing law; (3) the factual 
contentions have evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, will likely have 
evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery; and 
(4) the complaint otherwise complies with the requirements of Federal Rule of Civil 
Procedure 11. 

I agree to notify the Clerk's Office in writing of any changes to my mailing address. I 
understand that my failure to keep a current address on file with the Clerk's Office may result 
in the dismissal of my case. 

Each Plaintiff must sign and date the complaint. Attach additional pages if necessary. If 
seeking to proceed without prepayment of fees, each plaintiff must also submit an IFP 
application. 

  Dated   October 7, 2021 
First Name   Matthew 
Middle Initial   T. 
Last Name   Parish 
Plaintiff’s Signature  

Street Address   40 West End Avenue 
County, City     North Yorkshire, Harrogate 
Telephone Number   011 44 1423 566084 
Zip Code     HG2 9BY 
Email Address (if available)  parishmatthew@hotmail.com 
State     United Kingdom 

 I have read the Pro Se (Nonprisoner) Consent to Receive Documents Electronically: Yes 
  
If you do consent to receive documents electronically, submit the completed form with your 
complaint. If you do not consent, please do not attach the form. 
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CONSENT TO ELECTRONIC SERVICE 

I hereby consent to receive electronic service of notices and documents in my case(s) listed 
below. I affirm that: 
CONSENT TO ELECTRONIC SERVICE 

1. I have regular access to my e-mail account and to the internet and will check regularly for 
Notices of Electronic Filing; 

2. I have established a PACER account; 

3. I understand that electronic service is service under Rule 5 of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure and Rule 5.2 of the Local Civil Rules, and that I will no longer receive paper copies 
of case filings, including motions, decisions, orders, and other documents; 

4. I will promptly notify the Court if there is any change in my personal data, such as name, 
address, or e-mail address, or if I wish to cancel this consent to electronic service; 

5. I understand that I must regularly review the docket sheet of my case so that I do not miss a 
filing; and 

6. I understand that this consent applies only to the cases listed below and that if I file 
additional cases in which I would like to receive electronic service of notices of documents, I 
must file consent forms for those cases. 

Note: This consent will apply to all cases that you have filed in this court, so please list all of 
your pending and terminated cases. For each case, include the case name and docket number 
(for example, John Doe v. New City, 10-CV-01234). 

Civil case(s) filed in the Southern District of New York: 

Name (Last, First, MI)  Parish, Matthew, T. 
Address    40 West End Avenue 
Telephone Number   011 44 1423 566084 
Date     June 28, 2021 
City     Harrogate      
State     United Kingdom 
E-mail Address   parishmatthew@hotmail.com 
Signature 

Zip Code    HG2 9BY 

Return completed form to: Pro Se Intake Unit (Room 200) 500 Pearl Street 
New York, NY 10007 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RICO STATEMENT 

The Plaintiff is a party asserting claims pursuant to the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt 
Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 USC § 1961.What follows is the Plaintiff’s RICO Statement 
as prescribed by the Federal District Court of the Southern District of New York. Following 
the instructions prescribed for said RICO Statement: 

1. The alleged unlawful conduct is in violation of 18 USC § 1962(a); 18 USc § 1962(b); 18 
USC 1962(c); and 18 USC 1962(d). 

2. The Defendants are; (1) Ahmed Al-Fahad Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah; and (2) 
Hamad Al-Haroun. The alleged misconduct of both the First Defendant and the Second 
Defendant is (a) the arrangement of unlawful facilitation payments to achieve the votes of 
member states of international sporting organizations for various purposes internal to said 
organizations; and/or the facilitation of the same; and/or the procurement and/or execution of 
acts of forgery of documents and/or videos with a view to procuring said facilitation 
payments; and/or the procurement and/or executions of acts of forgery of documents and/or 
videos with a view to undermining the political positions of one or more Kuwaiti political 
opponents of the First Defendant and/or the Second Defendant. 

3. Wrongdoers other than the First Defendant and the Second Defendant are not known 
at this juncture in proceedings.
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